TANNING IN SUSSEX
By Margaret Holt
It is impossible to know whether. Early Man, emerging from the Prehistoric mists, had already realized the potential use of animal skins to protect his body from the wind and rain or to cover his feet against rocky and thorny ground. Even the first step, the killing of wild animals in order to survive was both difficult and ferocious, for in the words of a Roman poet; (1) “in ancient times a Man's weapons were his hands, his nails and his teeth, with stones and branches from the trees, and also fire when this had been discovered”!”
Little is known of these primeval hunters and it is only in Mesolithic and Neolithic times that it becomes clear that the flint tools, fashioned so dexterously from hard boulders of flint, and found in such abundance on habitation sites, include a variety of scrapers or small hand tools, suitable for many uses but of particular importance for scraping the inside layers of skin.
Skins which retain their inside layer of fat and flesh quickly putrefy so that preliminary washing and scraping are a first necessity, and the hide would then be stretched and pegged out on the ground in the sun to dry. The resultant product would be hard and stiff and in order to soften it animal brains, which contain a lot of fatty substances, were rubbed into the hide. But this did not change the skin into leather.
Again it is impossible to say when the art of tanning was discovered; it was probably by accident, perhaps a skin left in a pool of water which contained leaves and pieces of bark or other vegetable matter would be found, and the implication of this discovery understood.
Leather making was already an important industry in Egypt some 3000 years B.C. and the craft spread rapidly westwards; the Greeks and Romans wore leather sandals, boots, armour and caps, water was carried in leather containers and Marco Polo, the famous 13th century Venetian traveller, describes the war tents of Kubla Khan as of leather made from lion skins, and so well joined that neither wind nor rain could penetrate.(2)
As the centuries advanced the tannery process became more sophisticated and in this country oak bark, with its high tannic acid content, was used for this purpose. The hides were first washed in water to clean them and then put into lime-pits to soak for several days; this loosened the hair which was then scraped off, but for the first soak the lime must have been used with skins before, for used lime, owing to its contact with former skins, is full of bacteria which find their way to the roots of the hairs and destroy them, thus making it easy to remove.
After de-hairing the hides were scraped to remove any hair or flesh remaining, the men using long blunt knives for this purpose. Then came another washing and finally the skins were immersed in pits containing water and oak bark, pound​ed to a pulp. The tanning 'liquor' was of varying strength and a progression made from the first weak mixture to the final strong one, the skins remaining in the 'wooses' for at least a year.
The final process was to dry, - stretch, and pummel the skins with either oil, beeswax, beef or mutton tallow, wool-fat and grease or other waxes. There were two distinct categories of leather and two distinct ways of tanning. Ox, cow and calf skins were tanned with oak bark but skins of deer, sheep and horse were tanned with alum and oil, and the two trades were kept entirely separate.
In Sussex the oak bark used in tanning was easily obtained from the Wealden forest and trade in bark formed part of the wealth of the Weald from very early times. The method of tan-flawing was to cut the trees as soon as the sap had risen sufficiently for the bark to 'run', and after felling of the trees and the stripping of the lower part of the trunk, the bark was then taken off the rest of the bole in short lengths and set up to dry on long perches in the forest. When completely dry it was carried to the barn on a hot sunny day and stacked, for the saying among the workers was; 'Bark likes to go in hot'. Later it was 'Hatched', that is cut into small square pieces with a heavy chopper and finally rammed into large bags or 'pokes' ready to send to the tan‑yards. Water was an absolute necessity for every part of tanning and a stream will always be found near the site of an old tan‑yard for the leather dressers settled "where they may have water in brooks and rivers to dress their leather for without great store of running water they cannot dress the same".
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During the Middle Ages the Leather trade expanded into a very important industry and the workers in this trade were one of the first to form themselves into a Guild. They comprised Saddlers, Skinners, Tanners, Glovers, Purse-makers, Girdlers, Cord wainers (or Shoemakers) and Carriers. They became extremely powerful and the Guild regulated and overlooked every aspect of the industry in order to ensure the quality of the products. To control the sale of hides all leather had to come into the open market and no goods were allowed to be sold after dark for fear of deceit; severe punishments were given for breach of the regulations, strict rules of conduct imposed and entry to the Guild was only allowed to those who had served the seven year apprenticeship. Leather 'searchers' rode the countryside to see that all towns and villages complied with the orders and also to ensure that hides for export were duly stamped and the duty paid.
The first records of tanning in Sussex occur at the end of the 13th century and in the Subsidy Roll of 1297 for the Rape of Lewes two skinners are mentioned at Newtimber, one John le 'Wytt Lawunere', (white tanner, dresser of sheep and deer skins), at Cuckfield, and Robert de Toms of Uckfield, another white tanner, 
was hanged as a Thief in 1300. The Poll Tax of 1380 records the presence of two tanners at Cuckfield. one at Crawley, one at Westmeston and three, including John Dymoke, a white leather dresser, at Ditchling, and in the same century William Keys was presented for charging 'excessively' and for selling ill-tanned leather.
By the late 16th century there were tanneries in all the Towns in the County and in most of the larger villages as well, with Henfield, Hurstpierpoint and Cuckfield as the chief centres in mid Sussex during the period 1540-1640. William Rootes, Edward Goff and William Cannon were tanners in Henfield in 1603, 1615 and 1620 respectively, and 'Hewe Standby, and olde tanner from Kent's House' worked at Pakyns Tanyard in Hurstpierpoint.
All through the 17th, 18th and 19th centuries the industry prospered and Sussex Tanners were men of wealth and position. The inventories of their goods and effects which were taken after death give interesting details of a tannery with its tools and stock. As an example William Cherriman of West Chiltington in 1624 left in his tan-yard seven dickers and a half of 'Lower leather', three dickers of bark, one ox hide with the rind, fourteen square cisterns and three round ones, a grinding stone, a working beam and other tools.
Thomas Cannon of Henfield died in 1674 leaving:
Leather in the yard
£115.15s.
19 Dickers of hides
£156.
Fifteen dozen of calves skynne
£  50.
For tann
£   65.
Thomas also had a house with Twelve rooms £704.13s., a great sum for those days, whereas John Moor, a glover also living in Henfield, left only a small sum which, including his stock of leather 'made and unmade,, only amounted to £58.9.10.
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Two of the tan-yards within the High Weald area are at Horsted Keynes and Danehill: The one at Horsted Keynes has much of interest concerning its history and layout. The earliest reference is to be found in the will of 'Roger Godman of Horsted Keynes, Tanner', dated 3rd July 1544 when the property passed to Robert a Wood. The Woods were still living at Tanyard Farm and working the Tannery in the mid-seventeenth century for John Wood is mentioned several times in the Journal of Giles Moore, Rector of the Parish 1656-79. John was obviously an important member of the village community, frequently travelling to London on business, and sometimes buying a variety of goods for the Rector.
The Tan-yard and house form a most interesting complex with four distinct periods of building. The earliest part is Elizabethan in date and now forms a central core with later 17th century additions. The great tan-pit building was added on the east side in the 17th century with stone and brick walls of tremendous thickness, a splendid example of the skill and consummate craftsmanship of the Sussex builder.(3)
The end of tanning in Sussex came gradually, starting in the late years of the 18th century when numbers of the smaller tan-yards closed down leaving the concentration in the larger towns. Then in the early 19th century came a dramatic change with the establishment of the industry at Bermondsey, said to have been started by Huguenot refugees who had first settled in Rye.
As methods improved the Bermondsey yards grew even larger and with the coming of the railways and consequent ease of transport to London the Sussex trade rapidly declined and by the turn of the century had almost vanished, only Chichester, Horsham and Battle remaining; it was the end of an era and the Sussex tanner had become extinct.
Dicker =½ score.
Cistern = container, often of wood.
Sources:
(1) Lucretius
(2) The Wonderful Story of Leather. K.J. Beeby.
(3) Notes on Horsted Keynes Tanyard. Ruth Bird.
Also used -Victoria County History. p.259 and Mediaeval English Industries. L.F. Saizman.
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By TANYARD FARMHOUSE Photographed in the 1930s by G.D. Haslam Esq.
TANYARD. DANEHILL Architectural Notes.
Margaret Holt
This is a mediaeval house of excellent construction with heavy timbers of Wealden oak, and local stone used in part for chimney breasts and foundation walls. The house was originally timber-framed throughout but over the centuries the external appearance has been changed by the use of other materials, brick, tiles, plaster and cement which now hide the timber‑framed although a small section is still exposed on the north side. The house was also enlarged in modern times by the addition of an extra bay on the east side and an extension for the staircase.
The ground floor retains the moulded dais beam of the mediaeval 'open hall' and the central truss can be traced in the bedroom above, with wide curved braces from the tie-beam.
The roof is now of side purlin construction but obviously replacing the crown-post roof of the 15th century as some of the blackened rafters with dove-tail mortices have been reused as part of the present structure.
With the insertion of a chimney into the centre of the 'open hall' in the 17th century it was possible to floor over the 'hall' and the heavy central girder together with the splendid decoration of joists show the quality of the house and the obvious wealth of the owner.
There are two open hearths, back to back, each with heavy bressumer across the top and jambs of stone. Some of the curved braces in the bedroom over the hall have been repositioned but the mortices for the original position can be determined and the holes for the pegs which held them in position are still there. A shallow bedroom fire place projects into the room and the long, tapering rootstocks of the bay posts are at each corner
---------------------------------------------------------------
